1967

## George L. Bell, et al.. v. Bud Favero and Maurice Richards : Brief of Appellants

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

The appellants, Bud Favero and Maurice Richards, two of three elected Commissioners of Weber County, appeal from a judgment of the District Court of Weber County, the Honorable Lewis Jones, Judge of the First District, sitting at request without jury, awarding respondent judgment against each defendant in the sum of Seven Hundred Seventy Seven Dollars, fifty cents, (\$777.50), One Thousand Five Hundred

Fifty Five (\$1,555.00) Dollars in total, plus some costs, for allegedly making an ultra vires appropriation of public funds in violation of 17-5-13, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On March 1, 1966, George L. Bell, a taxpayer and resident of Weber County, filed a complaint in the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, against Bud Favero and Maurice Richards, Weber County Commissioners. Plaintiff alleged that the defendants had improperly and illegally appropriated certain public funds for football admission tickets for private individuals. A further allegation was contained in the complaint that the actions of the defendants were done fraudulently. The plaintiff sought recovery of \$600.00 allegedly appropriated by the defendants and a \$500.00 forfeiture under the provisions of 17-5-13, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. A motion to strike was filed and denied and an answer duly entered by the defendants. Discovery was perfected by both parties and the matter tried to the Honorable Lewis Jones, District Judge of the First Judicial District, sitting upon request. Subsequent to the receipt of the evidence, Judge Jones entered judgment in favor of plaintiff and against the defendants, finding however, that in the alleged appropriation was not fraudulently made.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants submit the decision of the trial court should be reversed.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts are relatively undisputed. Mr. Gary Crompton, the athletic business manager of Weber State College, testified that he approached the Weber County Commissioners for the purpose of getting them to purchase an ad in the football programs of Weber State College (Tr. 6). He indicated that the Commissioners stated that they didn't want to put an ad in the programs even though it had been the general practice in the past, but that they indicated they wanted to help the college (Tr. 7). They felt that putting an ad in a football program was political (Tr. 7). There were several meetings held between Mr. Crompton and one or more of the Commissioners and as an end result the county purchased 50 season, reserved tickets at Weber State College football games for the sum of \$600.00 (Tr. 8). Mr. Crompton testified that he was under the impression that the Commissioners wanted to help the school more than they had done in the past (Tr. 11). Crompton told the Commissioners that there were approximately three ways that they could help. The first way was by placing an ad in the football programs; the second, by making a direct scholarship to the college; or third, by purchasing football tickets and distributing them to county employees in an effort

to get them to attend the football games as a group and encourage interest in the Weber State College athletic program (Tr. 11, Tr. 13-14). Crompton told the Commissioners that he preferred the purchase of the tickets because he felt it would do more to develop the Weber State College athletic program (Tr. 14).

Mr. Crompton testified that prior to the 1964 football season the college had only sold approximately 150 reserved season tickets in 1964 out of 1,170 available. He stated that the money acquired through ticket purchases went to the same fund as that used for athletic scholarships for the Weber State College Athletic Department (Tr. 15). He said that the 1965 season, the season for which the Weber County Commissioners had purchased the tickets, a 200% increase in attendance resulted (Tr. 16).

Mr. Crompton also testified that payment for the tickets was made approximately three weeks after he had delivered the tickets and that payment was by a \$600.00 check. He indicated that the cashier at Weber State College had received the check and a voucher on which noted the payment was for a scholarship and he advised the cashier that it should be treated as a ticket purchase (Tr. 10). Mr. Thomas H. Jackson, the cashier of Weber State College, testified that he credited the \$600.00 payment towards ticket sales.

Commissioner Elmer Carver, a Weber County Commissioner, who was not sued as a party defendant, testified that he recalled a meeting in which Mr. Crompton

ton was present and in which there was discussion about purchasing football tickets. He indicated, however, he did not approve the purchase, and subsequently, when it was called to his attention, he scanned the minutes of the formal meetings and was unable to find any formal approval. He stated that although there was no budget request made for the tickets as part of the annual budget it was not uncommon to make expenditures for items not budgeted. He testified that the claim for the purchase of the tickets was handled in the usual and routine way (Tr. 30), and acknowledged that a lot of claims against the County Treasurer were paid other than at regular meetings and that expenditures could be authorized on the signature of one commissioner unless there was some question about the expenditure and then two approvals were requested (Tr. 29). He stated the reason that he did not approve the claim was because he was not familiar with it, but he didn't question it (Tr. 32).

Donna Adam, an employee of the Weber County Clerk, who took the regular minutes of the Commissioners' meetings, testified that according to the minutes Mr. Crompton appeared before the Commission on the 21st of August, 1965, at which time there was discussion relating to the Commissioners putting an ad in the Weber State College football program and there was also discussion relative to obtaining football tickets for county employees at a group rate. She testified that she could remember that there was discussion about helping the college and that the claim for the football

tickets was approved on October 14, 1965, and in the usual routine manner (Tr. 39-42).

Mr. Dee Wilcox, the Weber County Auditor, called and testified that generally the purchasing order procedure is that the purchasing procedure for items the county needs is that a purchase order is made up and sent to his office to determine whether or not there is sufficient funds in the budget to cover the expenditure. He would normally indicate that there was sufficient money and the purchase order would go back to the purchasing department where the purchase order was required to be approved by one of the Commissioners if it was in excess of \$100.00. He indicated that the appropriation for the football tickets was approved by Commissioners Favero and Richards (Tr. 46). He indicated that the claim stated that it was "Scholarship for Weber Athletic Department" (Tr. 46). He indicated that the warrant was dated October 13, and the purchase order September 20. He further testified that subsequent to the time that he found out that football tickets he received had been purchased with the \$600.00 funds, he paid back the value of the tickets he received as did another individual in his department (Tr. 53-54). The amount paid back totaled \$45.00.

Mr. Warren Drury, an employee in the Weber County Shops, who serves on the Board of the Weber County Employees' Association, indicated that he received tickets from Mr. Al Covio (Tr. 57). He stated he was told to go to the football games and join an

associate with the other employees (Tr. 58). He stated that he hadn't been before at least for several years and as a result of receiving the tickets he purchased other tickets and then intended to buy more next year. He further testified that at one point plaintiff himself wanted to obtain some of the tickets (Tr. 58-59).

Mr. B. M. Richards, a deputy sheriff who also serves as a non-paid member of the Weber County Health Board, testified that he received several tickets and he gave some to a District Judge and to employees of the County Hospital (Tr. 60-61). He received the tickets from Mr. Covio and he stated that Covio indicated that he was trying to give the tickets to people who hadn't attended before and to scatter them among the employees of the county (Tr. 61). He stated that as a result of the tickets given him, he was "sold" on Weber State College football and intended to buy a season ticket (Tr. 62).

Dr. Rex M. Alvord, a physician, testified that he received four tickets and that he used some and gave some away. He indicated the tickets had been given to him by the President of the County Industrial Bureau.

The answers to interrogatories proposed by the plaintiff were published and received by the court. Interrogatory 17 showed that most of the persons receiving tickets were employed in some positions in the county (R. 5).

In addition Dr. Alvord testified that the attendance at football games had increased by many thou-

sand and that he was especially impressed with the economic value the ticket purchase had for the community (Tr. 65-67). Also, Mr. Lowell H. Alvord testified that he was employed at Hill Air Force Base, was a member and chairman of the Weber County Health Board. He received tickets to the Weber State College football games, distributed by Mr. Covio (Tr. 70). He testified that he was present when all the Commissioners discussed the tickets and that he understood that it was their intention that unsalaried employees be given some of the benefit by the distribution of the tickets (Tr. 71).

Maurice Richards, an appellant and Weber County Commissioner, testified that Mr. Covio, a general employee and inspector for Weber County, had been designated to handle the relationships with Mr. Crompton (Tr. 73). He stated that Crompton wanted to come to the Commission and upon presenting his ideas to the Commission, it appeared that he wanted the Commissioners to take an ad in the program. He was advised by the Commissioners that they did not desire to take an ad because they considered it political (Tr. 74). He stated that Mr. Crompton then mentioned obtaining tickets and selling them to County employees, but that this idea was rejected as involving too much difficulty (Tr. 75). Crompton stated that the College needed help and he was asking the Commission to help their program. Commissioner Richards testified at several meetings the question of providing a scholarship for between \$500 and \$700 to the college was discussed.

He stated that he discussed, on the street, with Mr. Crompton the possibility of a \$600.00 scholarship being given directly to the school. Mr. Crompton told Richards that he was interested in building up the athletic fund and that a direct scholarship would not have that effect (Tr. 76). He listed the ways the Commissioners could help the College and suggested the idea of purchasing tickets as a means of developing the athletic program (Tr. 76). Subsequent to the meeting on the street, two of the Commissioners told Crompton that they would go forward with the ticket purchase of \$600.00. This was on or about the 17th or 18th of September. Richards said he or Mr. Favero told Mr. Covio to make out a requisition for \$600.00 and that as a result a purchase order was prepared, signed and submitted as a proper claim (Tr. 77). When the tickets first arrived, they were scattered throughout the stadium and they were sent back in order to get seats together (Tr. 78). Commissioner Richards said it was his intent to aid the athletic department and that Mr. Crompton had been pushing the end result of getting money into the athletic fund and selling tickets in order to get people out to support Weber State College football (Tr. 78-79). He also stated it was Mr. Covio's job to get out the crowds and to distribute the tickets to non-paid board members, hospital confinees, county employees and to generally use his own discretion. He stated that it was not their intention to give tickets to those who normally would have gone, and that although this had occurred on one instance when a

ticket had been given at the front gate to an individual who had intended to go to the game, it was subsequently corrected (Tr. 79-81). Richards testified that it was Commission policy that any expenditure over \$100.00 required one Commissioner's approval unless there was some question about it and then it required two or three Commissioners' signatures (Tr. 82). He stated that most expenditures are not approved at regular meetings. Richards stated that at the time Covieo was directed to make up the voucher, there were no specific instructions given to him as to what to put on the requisition and that there was no intention to make the requisition secret. The idea was to generate spirit and enthusiasm within a block of people, primarily county employees and affiliates, and to help Weber State College (Tr. 88). The primary purpose was to help the college (Tr. 88). Richards testified that Commissioner Favero signed Richards' name to the requisition by stamping it on the requisition and that this was authorized by him (Tr. 91).

Donna Adam, the employee of the County Clerk, testified as to a minute entry which would allow any Commissioner to approve an expenditure in an amount over \$100.00, but two out of three was required if the expenditure was questioned in any manner (Tr. 93).

Al Covieo testified that he was an inspector and apparently a general administrator for the County Commission (Tr. 94). He stated that Mr. Crompton appeared on several occasions before the Commission

to solicit help for the Weber State College athletic program. He stated that he was directed to make out a \$600.00 purchase order to Weber College, that he requested a secretary, Lorna Boam, to make out the requisition. He said he knew it was for football tickets and that he couldn't remember telling her what to put on the requisition, but that he and Crompton were talking and that she apparently absorbed the conversation between the two and placed the statement relating to athletic scholarship on the requisition (Tr. 95). He stated that no one told her to put the purpose of the requisition as being for scholarships (Tr. 96). He indicated that the purpose of the purchase of the tickets as he understood it was "to prime the pump" for Weber State College and to distribute the tickets throughout the building. He said that it was suggested that he distribute them first to unpaid board members, county employees, individuals in hospitals and similar persons (Tr. 97). He said he kept a record of who received the tickets and who attended of every game, but did not have the records at time of trial since the season was over (Tr. 97). He said he would distribute some of the tickets to the elected department heads, and that some would pick up the tickets in his office and that generally he was "running around" to distribute the tickets (Tr. 98). He indicated that he had never gone to Weber State College football games before the ticket purchase but that he went at the time and generally had a good time. He did not use any of the tickets himself. He further indicated that approximately 35% to 40% of

the tickets had not actually been used by the person to whom they were distributed to or that the tickets were not distributed into the hands of persons who did use them (Tr. 102).

Lorna Boam, secretary of the Weber County Commission, testified that she wrote up the ticket purchase requisition and that neither of the County Commissioners instructed her how to fill it out. She stated that either Mr. Covieo or Mr. Compton gave her information as to what to put on the requisition (Tr. 104-106).

Commissioner Bud Favero testified that he recalled when Mr. Covieo and Mr. Compton came into the commission meeting and requested help for the College (Tr. 107). He said that Crompton originally sought an ad from the Commissioners and that this was turned down. He said this was computed on the basis of \$70.00 for the ad for 9 to 10 games which would be approximately \$700.00 (Tr. 108). He indicated that first there was consideration given to a direct scholarship of \$600.00 and that finally Crompton talked them into taking tickets (Tr. 109). He stated that subsequent to the determination being made, Mr. Covieo was told to make out a requisition and that he did not tell them what to put on the requisition (Tr. 110-111). He stated there was no intent to hide anything in making up the requisition (Tr. 114). He considered the payment to be for a scholarship and the tickets a donation to the Weber County Commission (Tr. 115). He felt the tickets had been given back to Weber County

order to develop good will (Tr. 115). He said that instructions were given to Covio to distribute the tickets generally to unpaid board members and various other county officials (Tr. 114). He stated that some county employees were poor and that this provided a means to assist them to attend a game which they otherwise wouldn't have the opportunity (Tr. 116). He stated that their sole intention was to help Weber State College and that the Commission had contributed on other occasions to 4-H clubs and other activities of public import. It further appeared in the record that the Commission had made a donation to a Weber County project known as "All Faces West" (Tr. 34). Mr. Favero said that his purpose in taking the tickets was:

That instead of them taking that thousand dollars and doing what I sometimes think they do with it, to go out and give it to the people and let them fill them stands and let them come and see what a beautiful thing it is, that they actually can't afford to. It would be better for the community. It would grow. Maybe they would save from year to year to be able to go to this the next year. All this is stimulating business just like we try to do day in and day out with the Industrial Bureau. Stimulate the mind that we got something here greater than just what we think we have got, let people talk about. That's building industry, that's building our county. (Tr. 118-119).

Subsequent to the presentation of the evidence the trial court indicated that he felt there had been a mistake in judgment and the action of the Weber County

Commissioners, the appellants herein, was ultra vires. He stated that the court concluded as a matter of law that counties do not have statutory power to construct "Universities" and "build football fields or Universities" and that that being so, that no power to appropriate funds to the Weber State College (Tr. 121). The court felt there was a mistaken judgment but that it was an honest mistake (Tr. 122), and the motive of the Commissioners was not questioned, Tr. 122. The court stated:

The court will state that a reading of the Commissioners' testimony convinces the court that they, the County Commissioners, believed they had a right to make the purchases enumerated and charge them to the county, and that they did these things through no dishonest motives. They were simply mistaken as to the law.

The court further stated (Tr. 123):

All right, the plaintiff prevails as to the first three paragraphs of the complaint. The plaintiff fails as to the paragraph four and five of the complaint, and that portion is dismissed with prejudice.

And (Tr. 122):

But the court finds that there was no fraud, no wilfull criminality, no corrupt or venal acts on the part of these County Commissioners, and expressly exonerates them from any evil motive by reason of the concession made by plaintiff in its closing arguments.

And the court—I don't know how we're going to do this. I want findings made at length on this subject, that this is merely a mistake in judgment on the part of the presiding officers of this county.

The appellants submit the trial court erred in the construction of the legislative powers of County Commissions.

## POINT I

### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE APPROPRIATION MADE BY APPELLANTS WAS ILLEGAL.

The appellants submit there is no justification for the trial court's ruling when a fair examination of the evidence and the legal powers of the appellants is made and the growing social and political realization of the extent of participation of government in community affairs is properly appraised.

The evidence is quite undisputed and simply shows that the appellants, while acting as Commissioners of Weber County, appropriated the sum of \$600.00 to Weber State College and in exchange, therefore, received football tickets which were distributed to non-paid county employees and officials, some hospitalized persons, and others in the community. The purpose of the appropriation was to aid Weber State College, an educational institution in the county. The appropriation was aimed at developing community interest

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