1966

George L. Bell, et al.. v. Bud Favero and Maurice Richards : Brief of Respondents

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Respondents accept Appellants' statement.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondents accept Appellants' statement except to add that Plaintiffs did also allege that the purchase of football tickets was for private individuals and that said purchase was

described on the public records of Weber County as "Scholarships for Weber Athletic Department".

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seek affirmation of the Trial Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Gary Crompton, Athletic Business Manager of Weber State College, appeared before a regular meeting of the Board of Weber County Commissioners on August 26, 1965, to sell the County a half-page ad in the Weber State College football programs and to seek the support of their athletic program by Weber County employees (Tr. p. 7, lines 1-7 and p. 38, lines 18-24). In response to the solicitation of Mr. Crompton the Appellants requested a special discount rate to Weber State College football games "for the employees

for Weber County". (Tr. p. 8, lines 9-24)
This request was rejected by the administration of Weber State College. (Tr. p. 8, lines 21-24)

As alternative proposals to the Appellants request, Mr. Crompton suggested either an athletic scholarship or the outright purchase of football tickets--not at a special discount rate, which had already been rejected by Weber State College, but at the regular season ticket rate. (Tr. 8, lines 21-24) The Appellants rejected the granting of a scholarship and agreed to purchase 50 season football tickets to Weber State College games. (Tr. p. 11, lines 18-30 and p. 12, lines 1-9)

Shortly after the Appellants had agreed to purchase 50 season tickets, Mr. Crompton delivered the tickets to Mr. A. R. Covieo, (Tr. p. 9, lines 10-20) Weber

county Building Inspector, who had been assigned by Appellants to distribute the tickets; (Tr. p. 14, lines 14-22) however, these first tickets were returned as unsatisfactory because the Appellants decided that they did not comprise a solid seating block. Mr. Crompton remedied the problem by redelivering 50 season football tickets situated together in a block. (Tr. p. 96, lines 19-30 and p. 97, lines 1-3)

Approximately three weeks after the tickets had been delivered, Mr. Crompton made a special request to Mr. Covieo for payment of the tickets purchased because he had to close his books with the Weber State College Cashier. (Tr. p. 9, lines 21-30 and p. 10, lines 1-8) In response to this request Appellants caused to be appropriated from the Weber County Treasury the sum of \$600.00 by means of Weber

County Purchase Order No. 2622, dated September 20, 1965, accompanied by Requisition For Material No. 1420, dated September 17, 1965, (Plaintiff's Exhibit B), in which the tickets purchased were described as "Scholarships for Weber State Athletic Department".

Although Appellants and Mr. Covieo have disclaimed responsibility for describing the ticket purchase as "Scholarships for Weber State Athletic Department", Appellants did approve the completed purchase order containing the erroneous description (Tr. p. 46, lines 21-26 and p. 91, lines 12-26) and Mr. Covieo did sign the requisition on which the description does appear (Plaintiff's Exhibit B).

Elmer Carver, the third member of the Weber County Board of County Commissioners, testified that he had not been

informed prior to November, 1965, that Weber County funds had been appropriated for the purchase of football tickets. (Tr. p. 24, lines 15-29) He further testified that prior to the 1965 Weber State College homecoming game he was given two football tickets by Appellant Maurice Richards--not knowing at the time that public funds had been used to purchase said tickets (Tr. p. 25, lines 2-12). Neither the exact appropriation of \$600.00 nor the purchase of 50 season football tickets had ever been discussed at a regularly constituted or special meeting of the Weber Board of County Commissioners. (Tr. p. 36-43)

Appellants never supplied a complete list of all recipients of the football tickets. (Tr. p. 88, lines 29-30) The evidence indicates that Mr. Covieo had kept a written record of all persons who

had received tickets and had reported after each game the names of such persons to the Appellants. (Tr. p. 80, lines 28-30) Mr. Covieo testified that when the season was completed, he threw the complete list in a waste basket. (Tr. p. 99, lines 5-18, p. 103, lines 11-14)

In the published answers submitted by Appellants to the written interrogatories propounded by Respondents, Appellants list 38 recipients of football tickets, 24 of whom are salaried officials or employees of Weber County. (Tr. p. 68, lines 5-30 and p. 69, lines 1-23) Only seven persons on the list were serving as non-salaried members of Weber County advisory boards at the time tickets were distributed to them.

Mr. B. M. Richards, father of Appellant Maurice Richards, testified that he received approximately 18

admission tickets. (Tr. p. 60, lines 17-29) Mr. Richards was at the time a salaried deputy sheriff of Weber County (Tr. p. 60, lines 12-15) and an appointed member of the Weber County Welfare Board. (Tr. p. 62, lines 3-11)

Mr. Dee Wilcox, Weber County Auditor, testified that he had received 8 admission tickets, but did not know at the time he received the tickets that said tickets had been purchased with public funds. (Tr. p. 47, lines 1-30; p. 48, lines 1-20; p. 53, lines 17-30; p. 54, lines 1-7) Later in November, 1965, after he discovered that public funds had been used to purchase said tickets, he and David L. Duncan, Weber County Treasurer, reimbursed Weber County in the sum of \$45.00 for all tickets which had been distributed to them by Mr. Covieo. (Tr. p. 54, lines 11-30)

Although Appellants aver that Mr. Covieo did not personally use any of the tickets (Appellants' brief, p. 11), the record is quite clear to the contrary. (Tr. p. 79, lines 25-30; p. 80, line 1; p. 100, lines 12-20) At the time of ticket distribution Mr. Covieo was a salaried employee of Weber County as were a majority of the known ticket recipients. (Tr. p. 68, lines 12-30 and p. 69, lines 1-23)

Appellant Maurice Richards testified concerning the general purpose to be served by the distribution of tickets as follows:

... We were trying to encourage our county people, the people who are affiliated with us, the 4 or 5 or 600 employees, the 40--something like that--whatever it is, 20, 30, 40 board members, the people at the hospital and these kids. We weren't really trying to encourage these kids to go to the ball games. We were trying to give them a night out or a day out, something like that. We were not making any attempt to buy tickets for the whole public.

We were trying to develop some spirit and some enthusiasm within this block of people known as county employees and affiliates. (Tr. p. 88, lines 7-15)

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THE APPROPRIATION MADE BY APPELLANTS WAS ILLEGAL.

The Respondents submit that the appropriation of public funds for the purchase of football admission tickets for private individuals, most of whom were salaried employees of Weber County, was an illegal appropriation, serving a private, rather than a public purpose.

Appellants have attempted to reconstruct their conduct as constituting a contribution or donation to Weber State College. One of the Appellants went so far in his testimony as to declare that the Weber County Commissioners were "in the donation business." (Tr. p. 117,

lines 16-19). Contradicting this reconstruction by the Appellants is the testimony of the Weber State College representatives who were involved in the purchase and sale of the tickets. (Tr. p. 12, lines 1-9 and p. 21, lines 1-13). The appropriation of \$600.00 was an exact quid pro quo consideration for the fifty (50) season football tickets sold by Weber State College to the Appellants. There was no gift to the college.

A gift has been judicially defined as a voluntary transfer of property by one to another without any consideration or compensation therefore. It has sometimes been defined by statute as a transfer of personal property made voluntarily and without consideration, and also, generally, as that which is given, anything given or bestowed, or any piece of property voluntarily transferred by one person to another. Hence it is apparently well established at law that to constitute a valid gift, a

transfer must be voluntary, absolute, and without consideration. 24 Am. Jur., Gifts, Section 2, p. 730-731.

The distribution to salaried county employees of football tickets purchased with public funds, must constitute either additional compensation or a donation to such salaried employees. Construed either way, such additional compensation or donation violates basic principles of Utah law. Any emolument, gift, compensation or donation paid or given to a county employee from county funds in addition to his regularly established salary is prohibited by our Utah Constitution.

The Legislature shall have no power to grant or authorize any county or municipal authority to grant, any extra compensation, fee or allowance to any public officer, agent, servant or contractor, after service has been rendered or a contract has been entered into and

performed in whole or in part, nor pay or authorize the payment of any claim hereafter created against the State, or any county or municipality of the State, under any agreement or contract made without authority of law: provided that this Section shall not apply to claims incurred by public officers in the execution of the laws of the State. Utah Const. art. VI, Sec. 30.

The Legislature has also prohibited additional compensation or donation to county employees and officers.

The salaries herein provided for shall be full compensation for all services of every kind and description rendered by the officers named herein . . . Utah Code Annotated, 1963, Sec. 17-16-19.

Also, an appropriation of public funds either to or in aid of any person or persons is strictly interdicted by Section 17-4-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Appellants extensively quote as authority Opinion No. 66-073 of the Utah Attorney

General, issued May 20, 1966, as authority for the proposition that an appropriation of public funds for football tickets may serve a public purpose if certain "precautions" are taken. The Opinion concludes as follows:

Care must be exercised to insure that the distributions are not limited to particular groups, organizations, or political parties.

If the foregoing precautions are practiced, it must be concluded that the Weber County Commission may authorize an expenditure of public funds for the purchase of Weber State College football tickets. (Appellant's Brief, p. 29)

In the instant case, however, it is impossible to conclude that these necessary precautions cited by the Attorney General were observed. The testimony of one of the Appellants, Maurice Richards, negates completely the existence of any such

precautions.

. . . We were not making any attempt to buy tickets for the whole public. We were trying to develop some spirit and some enthusiasm within this block of people known as county employees and affiliates. (Tr. p. 88, lines 13-15)

Also, judicial notice should be taken of the fact that until the recent election in Weber County, one political party had dominated political offices and patronage in Weber County for approximately 34 years. Consequently, all Weber County employees and other officials designated by the Appellants as "the people who are affiliated with us" (Tr. p. 88, lines 7-15) were holding their jobs or appointments under the political patronage of the one political party in power in Weber County. The distribution of tickets was primarily

limited to this particular group, violating thereby all precautionary guide lines defined by the Attorney General. (Tr. p. 88, lines 5 to 24; Appellant's Brief, p. 29)

It could be argued that even a degree of nepotism appeared in the distribution of 18 tickets to a relative of one of the Appellants. (Tr. p. 60, lines 17-31)

There is a statutory procedure for the disposal of any property belonging to a county not required for public use.

Section 17-5-48, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides for the public sale of such property by county commissioners as follows:

They may sell at public auction at the courthouse door, after 30 days' previous notice given by publication in a newspaper published in the county, or if no paper is published in the county, by posting in five public places in the county, and

convey to the highest bidder for cash any property belonging to the county not required for public use, paying the proceeds into the county treasury for the use of the county.

Inherent in this proviso is a prohibition against discriminatory distribution of property purchased with public funds to a particular and limited group of persons belonging predominately to one political party.

To establish a legal justification for the appropriation of public funds to purchase football admission tickets for private individuals, Appellants argue that there is a presumption that the expenditure of funds is for a proper public purpose and assert that "Courts may not substitute their discretion as to the wisdom of an expenditure for that of the local

official." (Appellants' Brief, p. 18)

the authority cited for this assertion is SLATER V. Salt Lake City, 115 Utah 476, 206 P.2d 153 (1949). It is submitted that the case cited is irrelevant to the case at hand. The Slater case involved the direct exercise of the legislative power of a city commission in the enactment of a prohibitory ordinance. The facts of the case in no wise involved the appropriation of public funds.

The trial court in the instant case refused to acknowledge that county commissioners have unlimited powers (Tr. p. 120, lines 13-25). It relied on the general rule that counties are a creature of statute and have only such powers as are expressly conferred upon them or necessarily

plied from those expressly given. 14 Am. Jur., Counties, Section 28, p. 200. If there is a reasonable doubt as to the existence of a particular power in the county commission, it must be resolved against the commission, and the power denied. Lewis V. Petroleum County, 92 Mont. 563, 17 P.2d 60 (1932).

Appellants take exception to the refusal of the trial court to construe the appropriation of public funds for the purchase of football tickets for county employees and officials as tantamount to the development of the resources of Weber County. Everything in a particular county can be construed as a resource. It does not necessarily follow, however, that appropriations of public funds for the

development of all resources within a county fall within the purview of section 17-5-30, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which was enacted in 1965. Utah County could not appropriate funds to the Brigham Young University, one of the major resources of Utah County.

Although, Weber State College could be construed to be a Weber County resource, it is a State institution. The taxpayers of Weber County have been legally taxed by the State of Utah for the support of Weber State College. They have never consented directly or indirectly to be taxed by Weber County for the direct or indirect support of Weber State College. The Weber County Commission possesses neither an

express nor implied statutory power to appropriate public funds for the direct or indirect support of any college or university, public or private.

Bailey V. Van Dyke, 66 Utah 184, 240 p. 454 (1925) is cited by Appellants as authority for the donation of funds to a state college and that such a donation serves a public--not private--purpose (Appellants' Brief, p. 22-23). The facts of the case involved an appropriation of Weber County funds in the sum of \$1,200 for the service of a county agricultural agent and a home demonstration agent who were to perform field work in Weber County. This Court concluded that extension work was of a public and general character, authorized and intended for the public wel-

op." Id. at 457.

In the case at issue, however, there was no exchange of valuable services available to a major segment of the population of Weber County for the public funds appropriated. Quite to the contrary, only a very limited group of Weber County employees and "affiliates" derived any direct benefit from the public funds appropriated. In fact, at least two tickets were given by one of the Appellants to a non-resident of Weber County (Answers to Interrogatories, 213).

It should be noted that neither the instant case nor the Bailey case involved a donation or gift to a State college. In both instances there was a purchase by Weber County--extension services in the one

and football tickets in the other.

Although Appellants rely on Wood v. Budge, 13 Utah 2d 359, 374 P.2d 516 (1962), to support their theory that a county government "in light of modern day reality" (Appellants' Brief, p. 23-25, 42) should have its legislative acts endowed with a presumption of validity, Wood v. Budge, supra at 519, it should be noted that this Court was dealing with the powers of the legislature and not the limited power of a board of county commissioners. However, this Court did state a general principle of justice that does have application to all levels of government.

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